NOTES ON THE TOKENS OF THE IXOPO DISTRICT

Milner Snell, Kokstad, 2006

Dr. G.P. Theron in his works Tokens of Southern Africa and Their History and in the Supplement to the Tokens of Southern Africa and Their History lists the following traders who issued tokens in the Ixopo district*: H.J. Creighton, Creighton & Dennis and a storekeeper at St Faith’s.

H.J. CREIGHTON

Henry John Creighton was born in Suffolk in about 1865.
  It is not clear when he came to South Africa but the first reference to him living in Natal dates to 1882, when he is described in the Natal Almanac as a clerk living at 26 Church Street in Pietermaritzburg.  He would have been 17 years old at the time.  From 1882 until 1892 Creighton is described in the Natal Almanac as a clerk.  In 1893 he is referred to as an auctioneer working for Holliday & Co. of Church Street, Pietermaritzburg.  In 1894 Creighton moved up to the Ixopo district and until the end of 1895 farmed on the farm Claybrook.  In 1896 Creighton bought the farm Fairfield in the Rockvale area of Ixopo.  There was a trading store on the farm and Creighton combined the professions of farmer and storekeeper.  Rockvale was described in the Almanac as ‘a prosperous stock-farming district between Stuartstown [Ixopo] and Highflats’.  In 1901 Creighton bought a trading store on a farm called East Stranges.

Almost nothing is known about Creighton’s early life or his time as a trader.  It seems that he was from a well-connected English family.  He donated two trophies to the Springvale Mission Station to be used as communion cups.  The cups are about 30 cms high and are heavily engraved with flowers and scrolls with the words Creighton Rowing Club engraved across the centre.  They were never used as communion cups as they were too embellished with engravings, which are unhygienic.  The cups, therefore, were kept in the safe at Springvale and never used.  They were later donated to the Ixopo Historical Society.

In 1917 Creighton sold Fairfield to Strachan & Co. of Umzimkulu for £2.15.0 per acre.  At the same time as buying Fairfield, Strachan & Co. leased the store on East Stranges which they later bought from Creighton.
  In 1936 Archibald & Co. leased the store on Fairfield with the option to buy.  In 1942 Archibald & Co. bought Fairfield and East Stranges from Strachan & Co.
  By 1923 H.J. Creighton was living at 117 Alexandra Road in Pietermaritzburg.  Creighton, who never married, died on 16 March 1930 at his home in Alexandra Road.  In his death notice he was described as a retired farmer.

Dr. G.P. Theron in the Tokens of Southern Africa and their History and the Supplement to the Tokens of Southern Africa and their History mentions that he had seen H.J. Creighton tokens in the denominations 1/-, 2/- and 3d.  He gives the following description of the 1/- token:

Brass, diameter 31mm

Obverse: Pierced at 12 o’clock and from that, anti-clockwise: ‘H.J. CREIGHTON’ ‘IXOPO’.  Below centre field a thin horizontal line with ‘136’ stamped above this.

Reverse: A large ‘1/-’, the downstroke to the right of the piercing.  The other two are the same, with reverses exactly the same.

The tokens were issued between 1896 and 1912 and limited to the stores on Fairfield and East Stranges.  

CREIGHTON AND DENNIS

Very little is known about Creighton and Dennis.  It seems that it was a business run by H. J. Creighton and E.E. Dennis.  Edward Ernest Dennis was born in England.
  From 1906 until approximately 1910 he was a storekeeper on the farm Finchley in the Ixopo area.  By 1912 Dennis owned the Brooklands trading store in the Highflats area of Ixopo.  The Brooklands store site included a butchery and bakery and was on the road from Highflats to Port Shepstone.  On 18 September 1912 Dennis married Bertha Jane, the daughter of James Gold.  In 1918 Dennis sold Brooklands for £1,500 to Strachan & Co. of Umzimkulu.
  A year earlier Strachan & Co. had bought two stores belonging to H.J. Creighton in the same area.
  Strachan & Co. owned the Brooklands store until 1980 when it was sold to a Mr Goba.

After selling the store Dennis moved down to Port Shepstone where he lived in a house called Riverview.  He died in 1945 at Riverview at the age of 65.  He left an estate just shy of £20 000, which was an impressive amount for the time.

There are no references to Creighton and Dennis on the database of the Natal Archives.  This is unusual as if they had entered into an official agreement or bought or leased property they should have left a paper trail.  There is also no reference to a Creighton and Dennis in the Natal Almanac.  This leads me to believe that H.J. Creighton and E.E. Dennis entered into a verbal agreement to combine their resources but never registered the company.  It seems that both men retained their individual stores, Creighton on Fairfield and East Stranges and Dennis at Brooklands, and that they agreed to cooperate with each other in the buying, transporting and storing of stock. 

Dr G.P. Theron in the Supplement to Tokens of Southern Africa and their History provides the following information on the tokens issued by Creighton & Dennis: 

Brass.  Diameter 31 mm, thickness 1,2 mm.

Description:

Obverse: A number, ‘34’ on this piece struck incusely in the centre, just above a horizontal line.  The token is pierced at 12 o’clock with, curved on the left side, ‘CREIGHTON’ and on the right: ‘& DENNIS’.  A motif at 6 o’clock.

Reverse: Large ‘1/-‘ only.

It has a pearled border and reaised rim on both sides.

The tokens were probably used at the stores on Fairfield and East Stranges and at Brooklands and superseded H.J. Creighton’s tokens and were used between 1912 and 1917. For examples of what the tokens look like see Theron’s Supplement to the Tokens of Southern Africa and Their History or Scott Balson’s website www.tokencoins.com.

ST FAITH’S

The St Faith’s trading store was established in the 1890s by John Robinson Royston.  (There are references to Royston having a farm surveyed at St Faith’s in 1893). 
  Royston, know as Zithulele (the silent one) by the Africans and generally called ‘General’, made a name for himself as a skilled soldier. 
  Royston was the fourth son of a civil engineer of Durban.  When the Anglo-Zulu War broke out in 1879, Royston, not yet sixteen, joined the Isipingo Mounted Rifles.  Because of his young age, he was supposed to restrict his activities to defence duties on the Zululand border.  Royston, however, defied authority and worked as a scout for the Natal Volunteer Guides.  He took part in the battles of Inyezane, Gingindhlovu and the Relief of Eshowe.  During the Anglo-Boer War he served with the Border Mounted Rifles which became caught in the Siege of Ladysmith.  Once Ladysmith had been relieved, Royston joined the Volunteer Composite Regiment.  At a later stage he was placed in command of the West Australian Mounted Infantry.  He was awarded the D.S.O. for his services. After the Anglo-Boer War he went back to farming but this time in the Port Shepstone area.  The store at St Faith’s was looked after by managers.  In 1906, during the Bambatha Rebellion, he raised Royston’s Horse and for his outstanding services was appointed Honoury Lieutenant-Colonel in the British Army.  In 1910 he commanded 2000 troops who attended the coronation of Edward VII.  The King conferred the C.M.G. on him.  At the outbreak of World War One he again recruited his own regiment, which became known as the Natal Light Horse.  In February 1915 he was attached to the staff of General McKenzie in the German South West Africa Campaign.  He was later appointed by the Imperial Army to command the Australian 12th Light Horse Regiment and then the 3rd Australian Light Horse Brigade, which fought in the Palestine Campaign.  He obtained the nickname ‘Galloping Jack’ during the Palestine campaign by riding up and down the lines shouting ‘No surrender’.  His life story is told in a book entitled Galloping Jack by Napier Devitt.

In the early 1920s Royston leased the St Faith’s store to Ronald Reuben Hill.
 Hill was born in Qumbu in East Griqualand in 1897 and at some stage worked as a storekeeper in Matatiele.  Hill spent 24 years trading at St Faith’s.
  In about 1937 he bought the store from Royston.  The store was registered as belonging to RR Hill and Company.  Hill was still at St Faith’s in 1946 but had sold the shop to Boffa and Collins by 1947.
  Hill then worked for the Native Affairs Department in Durban until his death in 1970.  

Dr G.P. Theron in the Supplement to Tokens of Southern Africa and their History provides the following information on the tokens issued at St Faith’s: 

Brass, diameter 24 mm and thickness 1mm.

Description:

Obverse: Pierced at 12 o’clock.  ‘ST FAITH’S’ slightly curved over the lower half of the piece.

Reverse: large ‘6d’ only.

Two dots under the ‘D’.  Pearled border and raised rim on both sides.

It is not clear if Royston or Hill issued the tokens for the St Faith’s store.  Royston would have been aware of the tokens issued by Strachan & Co. in the adjoining territory of East Griqualand.  Hill, on the other hand, would have known about the tokens issued by the Moore family in the Qumbu district and those issued by James Cole and Strachan & Co. when he worked in Matatiele.  The most likely explanation is that Royston issued the tokens and that Hill continued using them after he had bought the store.  It is interesting to note that Brooklands, owned by Dennis of Creighton and Dennis, was a neighboring store to St Faith’s and thus the storeowners were trading rivals.  The tokens could well have been issued as part of the competition between the various storeowners in the Highflats area. 

There is only one known example of a St Faith’s token, which is owned by Mr Scott Balson of Australia.  For examples of what the tokens look like see Theron’s Supplement to the Tokens of Southern Africa and Their History or www.tokencoins.com.

SUMMARY OF STORES, OWNERS AND TOKENS USED

	Name
	Fairfield
	East Stranges
	Brooklands
	St Faith’s

	Owners
	H.J. Creighton

1896-1917

Strachan & Co.

1917-1942

Archibald & Co.

1942 onwards
	H.J. Creighton

1901-1917

Strachan & Co.

1917-1942

Archibald & Co.

1942 onwards
	E.E. Dennis

1912-1918

Strachan & Co.

1918-1980

Mr Goba

1980 onwards
	J.R. Royston
1897-1937

R.R. Hill

1937-1947

Collins & Boffa

1947 onwards

	Tokens

Used
	H.J. Creighton

c. 1896-1912

Creighton & Dennis

1912-1917

Strachan & Co.

1917-1932
	H.J. Creighton

c. 1901-1912

Creighton & Dennis

1912-1917

Strachan & Co.

1917-1932
	Strachan & Co.

1918-1932
	St Faith’s

1897-1932


* The stores were all in the Ixopo magisterial district but were actually situated in the Highflats area.








Notes and References





� Information on Creighton comes from his Death Notice in the Natal Archives (ref. MSCE 15434/30) and his entries in the Natal Almanac from 1882 to 1923.


� The information about the cups was provided by Mrs Marie-Anne Mingay of Donnybrook in a letter dated 29 June 2006.  Mrs Mingay points out that there might well be a connection between H.J. Creighton and Lady McCallun (nee Creighton) who was the wife of the Governor and after whom the village of Creighton is named.


� Milner Snell, Strachan & Co. (PTY) Limited: Merchants and Importers, p. 65.


� In October 1882 James Ross, originally of Perthshire in Scotland, bought a trading store at Highflats from the Gold Brothers and renamed it Archibald & Co.  Ross later sold the business to William Thompson and William Arnott.  Arnott also came from Perthshire and had worked for Ross.  Arnott had an illustrious career in the Border Mounted Rifles and the Natal Mounted Rifles and retired in 1921 with the rank of Brigadier General.  He represented the Natal Coast in the Legislative Assembly.


� Information on Dennis comes from his Death Notice in the Natal Archives (ref. MSCE 2176/45) and his entries in the Natal Almanac from 1906 to 1918.


� Milner Snell, Strachan & Co. (PTY) Limited: Merchants and Traders, p. 63.


� Most of the Strachan & Co. stores were situated in the East Griqualand area of what was then the Cape Province.  The purchasing of three stores in two years in the Highflats area indicates a deliberate decision on behalf of the company to extend operations into Natal.


� Natal Archives SGO III/1/92 SG4620/1893.


� Information on Royston from Eric Goetzsche, ‘Rough But Ready’: An Official History of the Natal Mounted Rifles and Napier Devitt’s Galloping Jack.


� Information on Hill comes from his Death Notice in the Natal Archives (ref. MSCE 1464/1949).


  � Milner Pedlar, who managed the Brooklands store for Strachan & Co. left the following description of Hill in his memoirs Days to Remember:


   We had an African working for us called Leonard Gumbi who was a jack-of-all-trades, doing shoe and watch repairs and many other things.  This helped induce many to buy at Brooklands, as less than two miles away as a crow flies was the St Faith's Store owned by the wily R.R. Hill.  Mr R.R. Hill of St. Faith’s, since deceased, had a boy named Dhlulisa working for him for many years, and this boy constantly requested that he fly in an aeroplane.  As Mr Hill saw the funny side of life he duly obliged and took him to Durban and told the pilot to do the loop the loop.  He flew upside down and did every thing as requested and Dhlulisa thought he was going to die as he was under the plane and imagined he would fall out from that height.  When the plane landed Dhlulisa was helpless from fear, and was helped out and could not walk.  He said his boss was a mad man and he would not trust him again.


� Besides the store at St Faith’s, Collins and Boffa also owned stores at Highflats and Hlokozi.
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